IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-2071

THOMAS M. OVERTON, Appellant,

 \mathbf{v}_{\bullet}

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LUCRECIA R. DIAZ
Assistant CCRC
Florida Bar No. 0988110
OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr.

Overton's motion for post-conviction DNA testing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Overton was sentenced to death in the Circuit Court of Monroe County. Mr. Overton was found guilty of two counts of first degree murder (\$782.04(1)(a)), the killing of an unborn child (\$782.09), burglary of a dwelling with an assault or battery upon a person (\$810.02), and sexual battery involving physical force likely to cause serious personal injury (\$794.011(3)). (R. 8-15, T. 4882). The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Overton to death on each of the counts of first degree murder. (R. 1190-1199).

Mr. Overton has filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Convictions and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. Mr. Overton has presented evidence during an evidentiary hearing in support of the claims made in his Motion to Vacate Judgments of Convictions and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 and is currently awaiting a ruling from the trial court.

On April 3, 2003, Mr. Overton filed a Motion for DNA Testing, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853, requesting testing of several items in evidence, including but not limited to: rope cuttings obtained from several locations at the crime scene, vacuuming from around the female victim's body, tape cuttings from both victim's bodies, hair from the mattress pad, hair found in the tape on shoulder of man's T-shirt, fingernail scrapings from the victims, a sexual assault kit and a swab potentially containing a DNA specimen

from fluid found on the leg of the female victim. (DNA-R. 20-25). All evidence which Mr. Overton's DNA expert informed him would lead to evidence likely to either exonerate Mr. Overton or implicate additional perpetrators and affect the proportionality of his sentence.

On April 23, 2004, the State filed its Response to Petitioner's Motion for DNA Testing. (DNA-R. 15-19). On April 30, 2004, the trial court conducted a hearing on the defendant's motion. (DNA-R. 35-57). At this hearing, the trial court entertained the arguments of counsel. (DNA-R. 35-57). However, the trial court did not listen to the testimony of any scientific experts. (DNA-R. 35-57).

On May 17, 2004, an Order was entered denying in part and granting in part the Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction DNA testing, allowing for testing only of the sexual assault kit and the fingernail scrapings. (DNA-R. 26-33).

On June 18, 2004, the trial court conducted a status conference at which time the State moved to continue the evidentiary hearing for two days because the scheduled time conflicted with the election of the State Attorney in Monroe County. (DNA-R. 152-172).

On June 23, 2004, Mr. Overton filed a Motion for Clarification of Postconviction DNA Order and Continuation of Evidentiary Hearing. (DNA-R. 67-70). Mr. Overton was concerned that the all of the swabs be tested, and particularly those taken from The female victim's body at the scene, since these swabs, in particular, had been lost and later

found. (DNA-R. 67-70). Further, on June 27, 2004, Mr. Overton filed an Objection to FDLE Conducting DNA Testing and/or Request to Have Independent Lab Test for DNA. (DNA-R. 71-73). On August 10, 2004, a Second Motion for DNA Testing was submitted, specifically requesting that the hairs found in the tape bindings of the female victim be tested for DNA. (DNA-R. 74-7).

On July 28, 2004, the trial court held a hearing on Mr. Overton's Motion for Clarification of Postconviction DNA Order and Continuation of Evidentiary Hearing. (DNA-R. 91-112). Mr. Overton submitted in the motion that the evidentiary hearing on his claims raised in his Rule 3.851 motion be post-poned until the results from the post-conviction DNA tests were available. (DNA-R. 94). Part of this hearing was continued to August 6, 2004, because the trial court wanted information regarding how quickly FDLE would be able to complete the DNA testing that was ordered. (DNA-R. 113-133).

On August 18, 2004, the trial court held a hearing on the Defendant's Second Motion for DNA Testing. (DNA-R. 139-151). Again, the trial court heard the arguments of counsel, but did not solicit or permit any testimony from scientific experts regarding the evidence an the type of results that could be obtained through DNA testing. (DNA-R. 139-151).

On August 19, 2004, the lower court entered an Order Denying Defendant's Objection to FDLE Conducting Testing and/or Request to Have Independent Lab for

DNA and Clarifying May 17, 2004 Order for Postconviction DNA Testing. (DNA-R. 79-83). This order clarified that the swabs potentially containing a DNA specimen from the leg of the female victim were included for DNA testing as part of the sexual assault kit, in other words that the *entire* sexual assault kit containing both the crime scene swabs and the autopsy swabs could be tested. (DNA-R. 79-83). However, the trial court denied Mr. Overton's request to have an independent lab test the evidence. (DNA-R. 79-83). This Order specifically incorporated by reference the Order entered on May 17, 2004. (DNA-R. 79-83). The trial Court also entered a separate order on August 19, 2004 which specifically denied Mr. Overton's Second Motion For DNA Testing. (DNA-R. 84-87) Mr. Overton timely filed his Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Overton has always maintained his innocence. However, he was convicted for the murders of Micheal MacIvor and his eight and a half months pregnant wife Susan MacIvor who were found strangled in their home in Tavernier Key on August 22, 1991. (R. 1). The female victim's ankles and hands were bound. (DNA-R. 78). The female victim's eyes were also taped. *Inside* those tapes were found several *dark black* hairs which were pulled and separated from the tape and sent to FDLE for processing, but were never subject to DNA testing¹. (DNA-R. 78). FDLE comparison of Mr. Overton's head and pubic hair did not produce a match. (T. 3852-3, 3856-7). Mr. Overton's protestations of innocence are reasonable given the ongoing mishandling of evidence in this case, including storage for long periods of time in *unlocked* facilities.

Dr. Donald "Doc" Pope² was responsible for the collection, handling and testing of all serological evidence, such as blood, saliva, sweat, or semen found at the scene. (T. 3284, 3338). Pope used an instrument known as a luma light to detect potential serological evidence by causing it to luminesce. (T. 3339-40). The luma light instrument was new to the Monroe County Sheriff's Department in 1991 and had

¹ The hairs were visually excluded as coming from either the victims or Mr. Overton, as they all have hair color much lighter than the hairs found. (T. 3856).

² Pope was a veterinarian by training, but took the job with Monroe County as a serologist. (T. 3338).

never been used before. (T. 3224-6). Prior to this investigation, Pope had attended a one-week workshop offered by the manufacturer of the instrument, and had practiced with it on his own. (T. 3435-7).

Using the luma light, Pope identified possible semen evidence both on the body of the female victim, which was collected on cotton swabs, and on the couple's bed sheets. (T. 3347, 3351). Although we know for a fact that Pope made clippings from the bed sheets, where they were made and for what purposes are unclear. He first stated that he made the clippings at the lab. (T. 3379). He then stated that he made some at the scene and some at the lab. (T. 3381). Also, although it would appear that the clippings were made to process the evidence in this case, Pope also testified that he took a tiny cutting from the luminescing areas for his "own purposes", obviously diminishing the amount of genetic available for testing. (T. 3351).

Pope did not take the swabs and clippings to a certified storage facility. (T. 3480). Instead, he took them to his home, where he "air dried" them and placed them in his personal refrigerator. (T. 3481, 3393). Pope hung the bed sheets in the "guest room, office, catch all" area of his home, using clotheslines to hang the sheets in a horizontal "dipped" position, without placing paper underneath the sheets to preserve

Pope cut a small piece of the stained bed sheet evidence for his "own purposes," with the intent to test this evidence "not through the laborious process of

possible trace evidence. (T. 3393-4, 3505, 3535). Pope stated that the reason he took the evidence home was so that it could dry, however, Petrick, the crime scene investigator testified that the sheets appeared very dry at the crime scene. (T. 3224).

On August 26, 1991, Pope took the bed sheets to the police property room. (T. 3395-6). However, he checked the evidence out of the property room the same day, and took it to his lab in Key West, where he tested the small bed sheet cutting he made at the crime scene for "his own purposes." (T. 3395-6, 3427, 3432). Poe claimed this cutting tested positive for semen, but was consumed during testing, and therefore never submitted for DNA analysis. (T. 3432, 3518, 3552).

More that two weeks after the alleged positive test of the consumed cutting, Pope made 10 more cuttings from the stained areas of the MacIvor's bottom sheet and mattress pad, and placed those cuttings in *unsealed* envelopes. (T. 3406-7), 3419-21, 3520, 3818). Over the next year and a half, Pope kept these unsealed envelopes initially in the *unlocked* refrigerator of his Key West lab⁴, then later in a refrigerator-freezer in his Marathon lab. (T. 3416, 3420, 3523-5). There are no notes that document how, when or by whom the cuttings in the unsealed envelopes were

case notes" but for his "Own particular interest". (T. 3351).

Pope testified the lab was locked but the refrigerator was not. (T. 3420). There was no evidence showing that Pope was the only person with access to the lab.

transferred to Marathon. (T. 3523-5, 3549). Pope testified that mattress pad had gone on a trip to Orlando to assist with a psychic consultation. (T. 3512). During his testimony, Pope did not recognize any of his handwriting on the package, nor could he explain how the bar codes were used. (T. 3513). The property receipt showed that a sealed package containing the sheet was sent to the psychic on 12/17/92 and returning on 1/13/93. (T. 3514). However, the package was not put back into property when it was returned. (T. 3514). The clippings he made were not included on the property receipt until 6/10/94 (T. 3514).

Six months later, in April of 1993, Pope resigned from the Monroe County Sheriff's Office. (T. 3417).

All of the evidence in his possession was then transferred to the crime laboratory supervisor in Key West, who delivered about six containers full of envelopes to the property room custodian. (T. 3417, 3693, 3695, 3831-2). It was not until then that the envelopes were finally sealed, and property receipts created documenting the existence of this evidence. (T. 3494, 3818, 3836). Two months later the envelopes were finally sent to the FDLE for DNA testing. (T. 3890-1). Thus, the evidentiary sample ultimately sent to FDLE by Doc Pope had sat around in his home refrigerator for months before it was sent to the FDLE Crime Lab. (T. 3393, 3416-3417).

Dr. James Pollack, an FDLE serologist, received the bed sheet clippings in June of 1993. (T. 3890-1). Using a method of analysis known as RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism), Pollack extracted DNA from two of the ten cuttings, and developed a DNA profile from five DNA locations or loci that were compared to the DNA from Mr. Overton's blood sample. (T. 3876-7, 3942, 3953-4). Pollack concluded that the profile from the bed sheets and cuttings "matched" the profile from Mr. Overton's blood sample. (T. 949-50, 3955-6).

At trial, aside from not having an independent recollection of what he had done all those years ago (T. 3220), Detective Petrick, who was primarily responsible for processing the scene⁵, admits that he at first put all the evidence in his van which is not refrigerated. (T. 3281). The evidence shown to him at trial had been repackaged from when he first impounded it. (T. 3199). Furthermore, he also admitted that the signatures on the evidence bags that said "Detective R. Petrick" were not his hand writing or signature. (T. 3221). Petrick further testified that he handed over the physical evidence to Pope on August 24, 1991. (T. 3223). However, the property receipts read "8/26". (T. 3223). To compound matters, the initials on the bags were not those of Detective Petrick. (T. 3223). Thus, he could not identify the bags as being the bags of evidence that he had handed over to Doc Pope. (T.

⁵ Other than the serological matter processed by Pope.

3223).

Nonoxynol-9 is a well-known spermicide commonly found in condoms. (T. 4437, 4493). Phillip Trager, an expert in the analytical testing of pharmaceutical products, tested samples of the bed sheet clippings made by Pope and found that they contained 53 micrograms of nonoxynol-9. (T. 696, 4436-9). Forensic crime scene expert Dr. Ronald Wright testified that in sexual assault crimes it is possible, but "highly unusual," for the perpetrator to use a condom. (T. 4494-5). Thus, Dr. Wright concluded that the presence of nonoxynol-9 on the MacIvor bed sheet clippings, along with semen, suggested that the semen was obtained from a condom and planted on the bedsheet evidence. (T. 4493).

There were 22-caliber firearm casings on the bedroom floor, about one foot from the doorway. (T. 3186, 3261), and a bullet hole in the wall near the bedroom curtain that appeared as though it were shot at close range. (T.3309, 4510). Dr. Wright testified that the gunshot hole did not match the 22-caliber cartridge case found at the scene, indicating that two different firearms were used in the bedroom, and that it would be "outrageously unusual" for one perpetrator to use two different firearms during a crime. (T. 4491, 4506, 4510). Dr. Nelms, the Monroe County medical examiner who performed the autopsies, testified that Mr. MacIvor's size (six foot one and 200 pounds) and the fact that he and The female victim's were in separate rooms

suggest that more than one perpetrator committed this crime. (T. 3636, 3672-3).

Given all the mishandling and improper storage that the evidence samples were subjected to in this case, the most reliable piece of evidence that is still available for DNA testing are the hairs which were separated from *inside* the binding The female victim's eyes since this evidence was never subject to Pope's mishandling.

Furthermore, although FDLE claims that they excluded both the victims and Mr.

Overton as a source of the hairs, by what method was never determined. Nor, was the identity of the source of those hairs determined.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The trial court should have ordered DNA testing of the dark black hairs which were stuck in the female victim's bindings because the results are likely to exonerate Mr. Overton or at least help mitigate his sentence. The trial court in this case did order DNA testing of the victims' fingernail scrapings and the swabs taken from the female body both at the scene and the autopsy, but denied testing of the hair. Although, these hairs were visually excluded as coming from either the victims or Mr. Overton prior to trial, they were never tested for DNA. If the hairs do not match either Mr. Overton of either of the victims, they should indicate the identity of the person who bound the female victim. Moreover, Mr. Overton's protestations of innocence are reasonable given the ongoing mishandling of evidence in this case, including storage for long periods of time in *unlocked* facilities. As such, the hair evidence, which was never subject to Pope's mishandling, is the most reliable piece of evidence to determine who the perpetrators were.

Further, the trial court's reasoning for ordering testing of some items of evidence is equally applicable to the items for which the trial court denied testing.

As such, this Court should reverse the lower court's order and order testing of the dark hairs.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ORDERING DNA TESTING OF BIOLOGICAL MATERIALS LIKELY TO EXONERATE MR. OVERTON OR MITIGATE HIS SENTENCE.

The trial court should have ordered DNA testing of the dark black hairs which were stuck in the female victim's bindings because the results are likely to exonerate Mr. Overton or at least help mitigate his sentence. The trial court in this case did order DNA testing of the victims' fingernail scrapings and the swabs taken from the female body both at the scene and the autopsy, but denied testing of the hair. Although, these hairs were visually excluded as coming from either the victims or Mr. Overton prior to trial, they were never tested for DNA. If the hairs do not match either Mr. Overton of either of the victims, they should indicate the identity of the person who bound the female victim. Moreover, Mr. Overton's protestations of innocence are reasonable given the ongoing mishandling of evidence in this case, including storage for long periods of time in *unlocked* facilities. As such, the hair evidence, which was never subject to Pope's mishandling, is the most reliable piece of evidence to determine who the perpetrators were.

Rule 3.853, Fla. R. Crim. P., requires that,

- (b) *Contents of Motion*. The motion for postconviction DNA testing must be under oath and must include the following:
- (1) a statement of the facts relied on in support of the motion, including a description of the physical evidence containing DNA to be tested and, if known, the present

location or last known location of the evidence and how it originally was obtained;

- (2) a statement that the evidence was not tested previously for DNA, or a statement that the results of previous DNA testing were inconclusive and that subsequent scientific developments in DNA testing techniques likely would produce a definitive result;
- (3) a statement that the movant is innocent and how the DNA testing requested by the motion will exonerate the movant of the crime for which the movant was sentenced, or a statement how the DNA testing will mitigate the sentence received by the movant for that crime;
- (4) a statement that identification of the movant is a genuinely disputed issue in the case and why it is an issue or an explanation of how the DNA evidence would either exonerate the defendant or mitigate the sentence that the movant received:
- (5) a statement of any other facts relevant to the motion; and
- (6) a certificate that a copy of the motion has been served on the prosecuting authority.

Rule 3.853, Fla. R. Crim. Pro. (2004). Mr. Overton has met each of these requirements.

In this case, Mr. Overton addressed the dark black hairs stuck in The female victim's bindings in his Second Motion for DNA testing. (DNA-R. 74-

7). That motion comported with all the requirements of Rule 3.853.⁶

⁶ Paragraph numbers 4 and 5 of Mr. Overton's Second Motion for DNA Testing read,

This crucial piece of evidence are hairs found in the tape bindings of the female victim, The female victim. These

However, the trial court erroneously denied testing of this crucial piece of evidence. In it's order the trial court reasoned,

However, in terms of relevance, unless the results showed the hairs to be those of the Defendant, the results would not be relevant and hence not admissible.

(DNA-R. 85).

Florida law is clear, "Relevant evidence is evidence tending to prove *or disprove* a material fact." §90.401, Fla. Stat. (2004)(emphasis added). Here, regardless of who the hair belongs to, the evidence is relevant to either prove or disprove a material fact in this case, the identity of the perpetrator. The hairs were found stuck in between the bindings over the female victim's eyes and hands. As such, it is likely that the hair came form the perpetrator who bound

hairs were visually inspected and determined not to belong to either the victims or Mr. Overton. This piece of evidence was pertinent to the crime were not subject to DNA testing. Mr. Overton seeks to have such items tested. These items are located at the Plantation Key Clerk of Courts Office:

A. Property Receipt Item 15530

Item # 24 Tape cuttings from both bodies. Future Testing: This tape has been processed with Nihydrin it is a purple color. In the tape, are black hairs that Ms. M. Roehner, MCSO Supervisor, found when re-processing some of the evidence. (See MCSO report 9/21/91, attached). These hairs can be subjected to mitochondrial DNA testing to determine who bound the victims. They have never been previously subject to DNA testing. (DNA-R. 75).

the female victim. Armed with such information, Mr. Overton's trial attorney's would buttressed Mr. Overton's theory of defense that he was not at the crime scene by showing that it was not Mr. Overton's hair stuck in the victim's bindings. Thus, someone else was involved in the crime.

The trial court reasoned in it's order,

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