IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Appellant,

vs. Case No. SC05-964

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO.0656879
1515 N. Flagler Dr.
SUITE 900
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(561) 837-5000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} \textbf{Issue} & \textbf{I} - \textbf{The trial court correctly found that trial} \\ \textbf{counsel did provide effective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase.} \\ \end{tabular}$

Issue II - The trial court properly found that defense counsel made reasonable strategic decisions involving the impeachment of state witness James Zeinteck.

Issue III - The trial court correctly determined that defense counsel adequately investigated all possible defenses for the guilt phase, including a potential alibi defense.

Issue IV - The trial court properly denied appellant's claim that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the burglary count based on the statute of limitations.

Issue V - The trial court correctly denied appellant's claim that counsel was should have argued that the pre-indictment delay prejudiced his defense and required a dismissal of the charges.

Issue VI - The trial court correctly determined that there was no conflict of interest between Overton and counsel.

Issue VII - The trial court correctly determined that the state did not withhold evidence any evidence in violation of $\underline{\text{Brady v. Maryland}}$, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

Issue VIII - Appellant's challenge to the trial court's summary denial of several claims is waived due to the cursory fashion in which it has been presented.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DENIED PROPERLY FOLLOWING A FULL
AND FAIR HEARING, APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE
RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE
GUILT PHASE

Overton claims that trial counsel, Manny Garcia and Jason Smith, made no meaningful attempt to investigate and prepare to challenge the admissibility of DNA evidence at a Frye hearing and later at trial in violation of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Specifically appellant asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence at the Frye hearing that "STR DNA" testing was not generally accepted within the scientific community. Second, the "STR DNA" testing procedures conducted in the instant case did not adhere to the applicable procedures and protocols. Initial brief at 58-59. And third, "the methods used by the Monroe County Sheriff's office in collecting and storing the evidence was below the in scientific community for standards the acceptable preservation. Initial brief at 68. Following an evidentiary

¹ Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

hearing on these claims, the trial court denied all relief.

Prior to detailing its findings the Court noted,

The Defendant's claims at the evidentiary hearing generally just echoed the arguments and mirrored the evidence presented at trial. Even the ineffective assistance of counsel claims were basically restatements of the issues raised on appeal under a different label.

(PCR 2844). In rejecting relief the Court found,

The problem with this part of the Defendant's claim (and many of the others) is that while he alleges that Counsel was ineffective by failing to participate in the Frye hearing, he does not allege how he was prejudiced. At the time of the hearing in November 2004, almost six years had passed since the Defendant was convicted. Yet in all that time, the Defendant has been unable to discern a basis for a claim of prejudice. With the evidence against him a matter of record and subject to the most exacting scrutiny, even in hindsight the Defendant has not pointed out one prejudicial error in the science in general of methodology used in this case in particular. cases make clear, the subjective assertion that Counsel should have done something different is not enough unless one can also point how that action or absence of action had a prejudicial impact on the Defendant's defense.

 $^{^2}$ Appellant was granted a hearing on the following claims related to the admissibility of DNA testing: counsel ineffective for failure to prepare for the Frye hearing; counsel was ineffective for failing to educate themselves in DNA analysis, counsel failed to utilize his expert witness to rebut the State's DNA expert and in particular, failed to impeach the State's witnesses with respect to the chain of custody; counsel ineffective for failure to present the Defendant's affirmative defense that his DNA had been planted on the evidence after the fact; counsel failed to obtain the additional testing recommended by the Defendant's DNA expert. (PCR 2839-2840).

(PCR 2849)(emphasis added).

The trial court also rejected completely appellant's assertion that the DNA evidence was unreliable because of a suspect chain of custody. The Court determined,

The Defendant seeks to give some credence to his claim by alleging that the chain of custody was flawed. To establish this, the Defendant uses a selective reading of the trial transcript. Specifically, the Defendant points out that the Detective Robert Petrick, Sr. who signed the bedding collected at the crime scene into the evidence room, testified that the paper bag containing the sheet stained with the semen was not the same one as he used, not attached and the writing on it was not his. Dr. Donald W. Pope, the forensic serologist, cleared up the mystery. The writing was his.

(PCR 2846).

As a result of this review of this trial testimony, there can be no doubt that the chain of custody was absolutely intact and well documented. There was never an opportunity for the DNA evidence to become corrupted or contaminated through inadvertance, negligence, or malice. Indeed both Dr. Bever and Dr. Pollack testified at the evidentiary hearing that the DNA was minimally degraded if at all.

(PCR 2847).

On appeal, appellant states that the trial court, "failed to conduct a proper analysis, failed to cumulatively consider the trial counsel's deficiencies, and failed to recognize the prejudice Mr. Overton suffered because of counsel's errors."

Initial brief at 49. The state asserts that the trial court's

factual and legal conclusions are supported by both the original record on appeal and the postconviction record and therefore must be affirmed on appeal. See Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999)(recognizing deference given to trial court's assessment of credibility and findings of fact); Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997)(reasoning standard of review following Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing is that if factual findings are supported by substantial evidence, appellate court will not substitute its judgment for trial judge's on questions of fact, credibility, or weight). However, the trial court's legal conclusion regarding the attorneys' performance is subject to an independent de novo review. Stephen 748 So. 2d at 1034 (Fla. 1999).

In order to be entitled to relief on this claim, Overton must demonstrate the following:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687 The Court explained further what it
meant by "deficient":

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every

effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

Id. at 689 (citation omitted).).

The Court also makes clear in <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 529 U.S. 362 (2000) that the focus is on <u>what</u> efforts were undertaken in the way of an investigation of the defendant's background and <u>why</u> a specific course of strategy was ultimately chosen over a different course of action. The inquiry into a trial attorney's performance is not an analysis between what one attorney could have done in comparison with what was actually done. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals recounts the state of law as follows:

I. The standard for counsel's performance "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); accord Williams v. Taylor, --- U.S. ----, 120 S.Ct. 1495, 1511, 146 L.Ed.2d 389 (2000) (most recent decision reaffirming that merits of ineffective assistance claim are squarely governed by Strickland). The purpose of ineffectiveness review is not to grade counsel's performance. See Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at 2065; see also White v. Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218, 1221 (11th Cir.1992) ("We are not interested in grading lawyers' performances; we are interested in whether the adversarial process at trial, in fact, worked adequately."). We recognize that "[r]epresentation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at 2067. Different lawyers have different gifts; this fact, as well as differing circumstances from case to case, means the range of what might be a reasonable approach at trial must be broad. To state the obvious: lawyers, in every case, could have done something more or something different. So, omissions are inevitable. But, the issue is not what is possible or "what is prudent or appropriate, but only what is constitutionally compelled." Burger v. 483 Kemp, U.S. 776, 107 S.Ct. 3114, 3126, 97 L. Ed.2d 638 (1987)(emphasis added).

<u>Chandler v. United States</u>, 218 F.3d 1305, 1313 n. 12 (11th Cir. 2000).

It is always possible to suggest further avenues of defense especially in hindsight. Rather the focus is on what strategies were employed and was that course of action reasonable in light of what was known at the time. See also Henry v. State, 862 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 2003). With these principles in mind, it is clear that counsel, Jason Smith and Manny Garcia, provided constitutionally adequate representation.

Appellant argues that counsel should have challenged the methodology and protocol of FDLE and the Bode Laboratory as they related to the DNA testing conducted in this case. Also,

[&]quot;The test for ineffectiveness is not whether counsel could have done more; perfection is not required. Nor is the test whether the best criminal defense attorneys might have done more. Instead the test is ... whether what they did was within the 'wide range of reasonable professional assistance.'" Waters, 46 F.3d at 1518 (en banc) (citations omitted)(emphasis added).

counsel should have argued at a <u>Frye</u> hearing, that the "alleged suspect chain of custody" theory would have somehow led the trial court to determine that the DNA testing conducted herein did not pass the <u>Frye</u> analysis. Overton's claim was denied properly as he failed to meet his evidentiary burden. Overton did not present any evidence that the DNA evidence had been tampered with; no evidence that "STR DNA" testing was inadmissible under <u>Frye</u>; no evidence that the semen, which contained the DNA, had been degraded; and no evidence that degraded DNA affects the science of DNA testing.

In contrast, the state's presentation of evidence consisted of the following. Both former counsel Smith and Garcia detailed the efforts undertaken during their investigation, and the reasoning behind the tactical decisions employed. As part of the trial preparation, they hired two investigators and two scientific experts. The theories of defense considered and investigated pretrial were; an alibi defense; the chain of custody was suspect and therefore the evidence was planted; the "STR DNA" testing did not meet the Frye test; and state witness James Zeintech was not credible. (PCR 62-63, 76-79, 95-98, 159-160, 174-177, 184-189, 193-194, 749, 758, 766, 781-782, 787-788).

Additionally, counsel hired Dr. Litman, who came recommended by other defense attorneys. He was responsible for reviewing all the discovery, he provided background information regarding the DNA process and the doctors involved in the testing, he provided material and information for the attorneys to read, and he identified what types of information should be requested in discovery. (PCR 152-154). Defense counsel also discussed with Litman the theory that the chain of custody of the DNA evidence may have been broken. However, the main focus of all the in depth conversations centered a round the propriety of "STR DNA" testing procedures. (PCR 174).

Smith requested and received several continuances throughout trial preparation. Defense counsel worked closely with their experts reviewing all the information obtained through discovery. At some point, Litman requested information from the BODE lab. However, because the information was so voluminous and counsel would have been required to visit BODE lab to review the materials, Smith requested a continuance, which was denied. (PCR 759). Regardless of the BODE materials, Litman told Smith that based on his view of the evidence, he

³ Manuel Garcia testified that they had a concern about the chain of custody because Detective Petrick did not recognize his signature on a property receipt and counsel also questioned the accuracy of other property receipts as well. (PCR 62-63).

could not be of any use to them because "STR DNA" testing was admissible under a <u>Frye</u> analysis. (PCR 156, 759). So rather than expend the limited resources on traveling to BODE Lab, Smith decided to preserve the continuance issue for appeal and devote the remainder of their time to preparation for the chosen defense that the evidence was planted. (47, 73-74, 174, 176, 759). Counsel explained,

QUESTION: And according to Dr. Litman, Dr. Litman as told you as long as the methodology is correct that this evidence is coming in; is that correct?

ANSWER: That's true.

QUESTION: So at that point did you feel that it was the best use of your time to go up to the laboratory? ANSWER: No. I mean that was a concern to spend that amount of time when it could be better spent in preparing other areas for trial as that point in time, plus you know that added fact that we felt we could make an issue of appeal on that because we felt were weren't given adequate discovery and that it shouldn't have been either/or that we, well weren't given discovery and we would have to go up and spend a week, you know, with the trial coming up.

QUESTION: All right. So let me get this straight. You're presented with an opportunity to go up to Bode Technology. You understand that if you go up there, you're going to be spending time you could be spending concentrating on the trial itself. You weigh that against the fact that it's unlikely that you're going to keep the STR out. And you couple that with the fact that if you don't go up there that you're setting up an appellate issue. Then you made a strategic decision not to go up to Bode Technology; is that correct?

ANSWER: That's correct, plus it did not really fit with our theory.

QUESTION: Your theory of defense?

ANSWER: Kind of, yes.

QUESTION: because your theory of defense is not that the DNA isn't his, it's that it's planted.

ANSWER: Right.

QUESTION; And you also knew that you were getting the

RFLP in anyway as well?

ANSWER: True.

(PCR 760-761).

Defense counsel also retained the services of former chief medical examiner of Broward County, Dr. Ronald Wright. expertise was in "cause of death" and "crime scene analysis." (PCR 155-156). Counsel testified that the chain of custody issue was considered, and explored with their DNA expert Dr. Litman and medical examiner Dr. Wright. However it became clear that any claim that the chain of custody was suspect was strictly an evidentiary hearing issue and was in no way associated with the science of DNA testing. They were two separate issues. (PCR 769). In fact, Dr. Litman downplayed the potential effect of chain of custody on the DNA testing. (PCR 785-786). Litman did not offer counsel any information that counsel could use to establish that a suspect chain of custody would change the DNA. (PCR 786). In fact, Litman rejected any notion that suspect storage would have effected the reliability of the DNA. (PCR 786).

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